I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

James Wimberley (hereinafter "Jim") is the petitioner in this Court 

and was the appellant in the Court of Appeals. 

II. DECISION BELOW 

The opinion of the Court of Appeals was originally filed on 

January 29,2015, as an unpublished opinion. Appendix A-001 to A-044. 

The Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration on February 10, 2015. 

Appendix A-045 to A-053. That motion for reconsideration was denied 

on March 5, 2015. Appendix A-054. Northwest Trustee Services, 

("Trustee") was one of the respondents in the Court of Appeals, and filed a 

Motion to Publish the opinion ofthe Court of Appeals on February 18, 

2015, which motion was granted on March 31,2015. Appendix A-055. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

A. Should review be accepted where the decision of the Court 

of Appeals in this matter is in conflict with prior decisions of the 

Washington State Supreme Court which establish a duty on the part of a 

trustee to make and accurate and equitable accounting of trust assets, and 

to make efforts to return misappropriated trust assets to the appropriate 

trust beneficiary? 
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B. Should review be granted where the decision of the Court 

of Appeals conflicts with prior rulings of the Supreme Court holding that 

it is the duty of the courts to effectuate the intent of the testator whenever 

it is within the court's power to do so, and that the doctrine of substantial 

compliance applies to the modification of trusts? 

C. Should review be accepted where the decision of the Court 

of Appeals conflicts with prior decisions of the other divisions of the 

Court of Appeals which have held that community property ceases to exist 

and cannot be created after the death of one of the members of the 

community? 

D. Should review be granted where the issues presented herein 

are issues of substantial public interest with regard to the administration of 

revocable living trusts and the powers and duties of the trustee of a 

revocable living trust? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Important Facts Are Undisputed 

All parties agree that it was Margaret Wimberley's (hereinafter 

"Margaret") intent to give her son James Wimberley (hereinafter "Jim"), 

without offset, the family home he helped build at 386 Fromherz Road, 

Yakima, W A (hereinafter "Fromherz Road Property"), as well as the 

assets located in the bank account at Yakima Federal Savings and Loan 
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Association known as the "Building Fund Account." The Trustee, the 

Trial Court, and the Court of Appeal have all acknowledged this intent by 

awarding the Petitioner a 75% interest in both the Fromherz Road 

Property and the Building Fund Account. Their theory is that every item 

of trust property and every penny of trust assets is indivisibly owned 50% 

by Margaret, and 50% by C.W. Wimberley, and therefore James may only 

receive all of Margaret's 50% of each individual asset plus one half of 

C.W.'s 50% interest in each asset for a total of75%. But this 

interpretation ignores the clear language of the Wimberley Family Trust 

(hereinafter the "Trust"), attached hereto as Appendix B-OO 1 to 066, 

which grants Margaret authority to change the beneficiaries of Trust A 

(Appendix B-034), and the discretion to make a non pro-rata division of 

assets into Trust A (Appendix B-029) that would include the Fromherz 

Road Property and Building Fund Account. See further, infra at§ 4 B. 

There is also no dispute that on three separate occasions in 

December 2009, Wes Wimberley (hereinafter "Wes") took Margaret (at a 

time when she was incapacitated and no longer the trustee) to the Y ak.ima 

Federal Savings and Loan where she withdrew $306,000 in trust assets 

from the Building Fund Account, transferred $26,000 to Wes Wimberley, 

and placed the rest in a non-trust bank account out of the reach of the then 

current Trustee, Jim. Appendix A-011. Over a year and a half earlier, on 
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April 3, 2008, Margaret had amended the trust to remove herself as 

trustee. Amendment 04-08 to the Wimberley Family Revocable Living 

Trust Agreement Dated January 15, 1999, is attached hereto as Appendix 

B-071 to 073. She had no legal authority to complete the transfers which 

occurred in December of2009, but the Court of Appeals erroneously 

upheld the trial court's decision to allow the trustee to disregard the 

invalid transfer and misappropriation of Trust assets. The Trustee, Trial 

Court, and the Court of Appeals all awarded 75% of the remaining assets 

contained in that account ($2,488.77) to Jim. Had the Trustee properly 

accounted for the invalid transfer and misappropriation, under the 

Trusteeffrial Court/Court of Appeals theory Jim would be entitled to an 

additional distribution of$229,500 in Trust assets. 

The only significant disputes in this matter are legal issues 

regarding 1) whether Margaret Wimberley had a right to control 

disposition of 100% of the Fromherz Road Property and the Building 

Fund Account; and 2) whether the trustee's accounting should account for 

the invalid transfer and misappropriation of $306,000 in Trust assets 

shortly before Margaret's death. 
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B. C.W. and Margaret Intended for the Survivor's Trust to be 
Revocable, and for the Survivor to Make a Non Pro-Rata 
Division of Assets Between the Trusts. 

The Trust document granted the Surviving Trustor absolute 

discretion to 1) make a non pro-rata division of Trust assets; and 2) amend 

or revoke the Survivor's trust without limitation. The Wimberley Family 

Trust instrument reads: 

Survivor Trust A 

Survivor's Trust A shall consist of the Survivor's on
half (1/2) interest in the commonly owned property or 
community property, quasi-community property and all 
other property included in the Trust Estate as the separate 
property of the Surviving Trustor. Upon division into shares 
at the death of a Trustor, Survivor's Trust A shall remain 
revocable by the Surviving Trustor during the life of the 
Surviving Trustor. Upon the death of the Surviving Trustor 
this share shall become irrevocable. 

Any property not allocated to the Decedent's Marital 
Share, or otherwise allocated by the provisions of this Trust 
at the death of the first of the Trustors to die, shall be 
allocated to this Survivor's Trust A. 

Decedent's Marital Share 

Decedent's Marital Share shall consist of the 
Decedent's one-half(l/2) interest in the commonly owned 
property or community property of the Trust Estate, on-half 
(112) interest in the quasi-community property and all other 
property included in the Trust Estate as the Separate 
Property of the Decedent Trustor. Decedent's Marital Share 
shall be divided and allocated into Decedent's Trust Band 
C. Upon creation of such Trust shares, Decedent's Trust B 
and Trust C are irrevocable. 

The Surviving Trustee shall have the sole discretion 
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to select the commonly owned, community and quasi
community assets or the proportionate share of any such 
assets which shall be included in the Decedent's Trust B and 
Trust C. In no event, however, shall there be included in 
Trust C any assets or the proceeds of any asset which will 
not qualify for the federal estate tax marital deduction, and 
Trust C shall be reduced to the extent that it cannot be 
created with such qualifying assets. The Trustee shall value 
any asset selected by the Trustee for distribution in kind to 
the Decedent's share at the value of such asset at the date of 
distribution to the Decedent's share. 

Trust, Appendix A-028 to A-029, (emphasis added) 

In 2006, Margaret hired attorney Richard Greiner to draft an 

amendment intended to carry out her intent of transferring the Fromherz 

Road Property and Building Fund Account to Jim, without offset, after her 

death. After almost a year of planning, Margaret executed the 

Amendment 07-07 to the Wimberley Family Revocable Living Trust 

Agreement Dated January 15, 1999. Appendix B-067 to 070. There is no 

evidence that Margaret executed a written document purporting to make a 

pro-rata division of Trust property into sub-trusts during her lifetime. It is 

undisputed, however, that Margaret had the authority to make a non pro-

rata distribution of both the Building Fund Account and the Fromherz 

Road Property into the Survivor's Trust over which she exercised full 

power to amend or revoke. Had she done this, those assets would have 

transferred to Jim in accordance with her wishes, and likely without 

dispute. Instead, she executed the 2007 Amendment that expressed her 
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intent to transfer those assets to Jim, but did not specifically segregate 

those two assets into the Survivor's Trust. 

At the time of Margaret's death the Trust held assets approaching 

$1,175,000 according to the Trustee's accounting. Margaret had authority 

to devise 50% of those assets ($587,500), and amount sufficient to fulfill 

her intent to gift the Fromherz Road Property and Building Fund Account 

to Jim. 

C. The Trustee's Accounting Failed at its Primary Purpose, 
Which is to Make an Accurate and Equitable Accounting. 

Perhaps the most troubling error in the opinion of the Court of 

Appeals, is the refusal to require the Trustee to account for the invalid 

transfer and misappropriation of over $306,000 in Trust assets only 

months before Margaret's death; at a time when she was not trustee and 

had no authority to access trust bank accounts; and at a time when there is 

no dispute that she was incapacitated and highly vulnerable to undue 

influence. The Court of Appeals' findings of fact, clearly acknowledge 

the invalid transfer and misappropriation: 

a) Wes Wimberley admitted in interrogatories to taking 
Margaret to the Bank on three separate occasions for the 
purpose of assisting her to withdraw $306,000 in trust 
assets, giving him $26,000 and placing the remainder in a 
non-trust account. Appendix A-11. 

b) There is no dispute that on Apri13, 2008, Margaret 
amended the trust to remove herself as trustee, thus 
intentionally divesting herself of any authority to access or 
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control trust assets, including the Building Fund Account. 
Appendix A-ll; Appendix A-9. 

c) There is little dispute that at the time the transfer took place 
Margaret was incapacitated and extremely vulnerable to 
undue influence. The declaration of Kristyan Calhoun, a 
geriatric care specialist who evaluated Margaret, found that 
Margaret could not remember making the transaction and 
that she was highly susceptible to undue influence. 
Appendix A-15 to A-18. 

Upon being appointed as successor trustee, Northwest Trustee 

Services was ordered to conduct a trust accounting going back to the date 

of death ofC.W. Wimberley in 2001. Appendix A-20. Such an 

accounting would have properly accounted for the invalid transfer and 

misappropriation of $306,000 in trust assets from the Building Fund 

Account in December 2009. However, the Trustee arbitrarily decided 

without a prior court order, not to complete the court ordered accounting 

back to the date ofC.W.'s death, instead opting to go back only to the date 

of Margaret's death. The explanation of the Trustee was that it would be 

too difficult to construct an accounting all the way back to 2001. 

Jim agreed that an accounting going back 13 years would be 

onerous and expensive to produce. But, being aware of the substantial 

invalid transfer and misappropriation of Trust assets just prior to 

Margaret's death, Jim proposed that instead of the irrelevant date of 

Margaret's death, the accounting should begin when Margaret resigned as 

trustee in 2008, making Jim trustee. In that way there would be a full 
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accounting of all actions that occurred after she relinquished her authority 

as trustee, including the invalid transfer of $306,000. Jim made this 

argument to the Superior Court, where it was rejected, and to the Court of 

Appeals where the ruling of the Superior Court was upheld. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

A. The Ruling of the Court of Appeals is in Direct Conflict with 
Prior Rulings of this Court and Other Divisions of the Court of 
Appeals. 

1. The opinion of the Court of Appeals conflicts with prior 
case law requiring a successor trustee to make an accurate 
and equitable accounting of, and where necessary recover, 
misappropriated trust assets. 

The Court of Appeals held that it was permissible for the Trustee 

to restrict the accounting to a time period which excluded the known, 

invalid withdrawal and misappropriation of$306,000 in Trust assets. This 

decision conflicts with prior case law that requires a trustee to make an 

accurate and equitable accounting of trust assets which have been stolen or 

otherwise misappropriated through fraudulent or invalid means. 

"The converse of the duty of the trustee to render an accounting 

and to furnish information is the right of the beneficiary or his 

representative to demand such an accounting or information." State v. 

Taylor, 58 Wn.2d 252, 258, 362 P.2d 247 (1961). Here, Jim had a right to 

demand that the successor Trustee complete an accounting that accurately 

accounted for the misappropriation of trust assets in December 2009. A 

9 



random date produces a random result, which, as will be seen below, is not 

"equitably fair." 

Tucker v. Brown, 20 Wn.2d 740, 150 P.2d 604 (1944) affirms the 

elements that a successor trustee should consider in accounting for the 

actions which occurred prior to his or her appointment. The Tucker court 

was concerned with very similar issues to those in the present matter; 

namely the appropriateness of an accounting by a successor trustee after 

the death of the trustor. The Tucker Court stated that the duty of the 

trustee is to, "render an account not only mathematically correct, but 

equitably fair ... " /d. at 772 (emphasis added). The Tucker Court 

established a number of important rules with regard to the duty of a 

successor trustee to account for trust assets and actions of a prior trustee 

which occurred prior to the successor trustee's appointment: 

It was the duty of appellant [the successor trustee] to make 
a full and correct accounting of all known assets of the 
Smith-Brown trust which had come into the possession or 
under the control of appellant. There are two reasons for 
the imposition of this duty: 

( 1) Appellant was commanded to make an accounting 
by this court in Tucker v. Brown, supra 

(2) It is the general rule that all successor trustees must 
make an accounting of the trust. 

'The personal representative of a deceased trustee must 
account for the period his decedent was in possession as 
well as for that during which he himself has held it' 65 C.J. 
890, Trusts, § 786. 
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Tucker, 20 Wn.2d at 770-71. 

Here, when Jim demanded that the successor Trustee produce an 

accounting that accounted for the misappropriated Trust assets, the Trustee 

had a duty to make an accurate and equitable accounting. By randomly 

choosing a starting date that ignored the misappropriation of Trust assets, 

the successor trustee may have mad his job easier, but the resulting 

"accounting" was not equitably fair as required by Tucker. 

In addition to addressing the trustee's duty to make and accurate 

and equitable accounting, the Tucker Court addressed the issue of what to 

do when title to trust property has been moved or altered through an 

invalid transfer. The Court stated: 

In tracing trust property, 

'The court proceeds on the principle that the title has not 
been affected; that the true owner of the fund traced to the 
possession of another has the right to have it restored, not 
as a debt due and owing, but because it is his property 
wrongfully withheld from him; the equity springing as it 
does from the right to trace the funds as property' 

Tucker, 20 Wn.2d at 784; citing Northwest Lumber Co. v. Scandinavian-

American Bank, 132 Wash. 449,451-52,231 P.951 (1925). 

Here, the funds which were misappropriated from the building 

fund account were easily traceable. The Trustee had a duty to return those 

funds to the proper account and beneficiary "on the principle that the title 

has not been affected; that the true owner of the fund traced to the 
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possession of another has the right to have it restored." Tucker, 20 Wn.2d. 

at 784. The ruling ofthe Court of Appeals relieving the Trustee of the 

duty to make an accurate and equitable accounting of the misappropriated 

funds and return them to the proper account and beneficiary, is in conflict 

with the law as established in the Washington State Supreme Court case of 

Tucker. 

2. The opinion of the Court of Appeals conflicts with prior 
case law holding that the courts have a duty to uphold the 
intent of the testator, and that the doctrine of substantial 
compliance is applicable to trust modifications. 

"As stated in Rood on Wills, 2d Ed.,§ 413, p.352, 'It has been 

declared a fundamental maxim, the first and greatest rule, the sovereign 

guide, the polar star, in giving effect to a will, that the intention of the 

testator as expressed in the will is to be fully and punctually observed so 

far as it is consistent with the established rules of law."' In re Elliott's 

Estate, 22 Wn.2d 334,351, 156 P.2d 427 (1945). The Washington State 

Supreme Court in In re Elliott's Estate then goes on to state the following: 

In this connection we adopt the language used by Judge 
Beals in his dissenting opinion in the Bronson case, supra, as 
follows: 'Courts go to the utmost possible length to carry into 
effect the testator's wishes, provided always that he has given 
them lawful expression. It is not only the testator's will 
which must be given effect, but it is his last will which must 
prevail. Where possible, the last will of a competent testator 
will be upheld, and courts will not by technical rules of 
statutory or other legal construction defeat the right of the 
testator to have effect given to the latest expression of his 
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testamentary wishes.' 

!d. 

The ruling of the Court of Appeals in this case contradicts the 

fundamental maxim described In re Elliott's Estate. There is no dispute 

that Margaret intended for Jim to have the Fromherz Road Property and 

Building Fund Account as specific distributions without offset. It is 

undisputed that C.W. made no provision for specific distributions oftrust 

assets such as the Fromherz Road Property, and that he merely intended 

his half of the residue of the Trust split between Jim and Wes. There is no 

dispute that both the terms of the Trust and state statute authorize 

Margaret to make a non pro-rata division of Trust assets. There is no 

dispute that Margaret went to an experienced estate planning attorney to 

help her achieve her intent. The only dispute is whether the doctrine of 

substantial compliance should be applied to Margaret's attempts to modify 

the distributive provisions of the trust. In ruling that strict compliance was 

required, the Court of Appeals contradicts prior rulings of this Court. 

Appendix A-032 to 033. 

The Washington State Supreme Court in Williams v. Bank of 

California, N.A., 96 Wn.2d 860, 639 P.2d 1339 (1982) held that strict 

compliance is not necessary to effectuate trust modifications when the 

method used to amend the document substantially complies with the terms 
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of the trust. Here, Margaret substantially complied with the terms of the 

trust when she executed the 2007 Amendment. 

Through the 2007 Amendment Margaret selected those assets of 

the trust over which she would retain control, thus effectively designating 

the assets which would be part of the Survivor's Trust and substantially 

complying with the modification requirements of the Trust. The Trust 

document itself did not specify any particular method for Margaret to 

divide and allocate the assets into the sub-trusts, and she had ample 

statutory authority to divide the assets by whatever method she chose. See 

RCW 11.98.070(15).1 The division of assets into sub-trusts could have 

been accomplished by merely creating a ledger showing that the Frornherz 

Road Property and Building Fund Account constituted assets of Trust A. 

In executing the 2007 Amendment, Margaret was simply 

accomplishing by that amendment after her death what she could have 

accomplished by making a non pro-rata division of Trust assets during her 

lifetime. C. W.' s rights are not altered by application of the doctrine of 

substantial compliance to uphold Margaret's intent because the ultimate 

outcome is the same whether the division occurs during her lifetime, as 

1 A trustee has authority to, "Select any part of the trust estate in satisfaction of any 
partition or distribution, in kind, in money or both; make nonpro rata distributions of 
property in kind; allocate particular assets or portions of them or undivided interests in 
them to any one or more of the beneficiaries without regard to the income tax basis of 
specific property allocation to any beneficiary and without any obligation to make an 
equitable adjustment;" RCW 11.98.072 (15). 

14 



authorized in the trust, or after her death through application of the 

doctrine of substantial compliance. The refusal of the Court of Appeals to

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