RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 04, 2015, 2:39 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 91614-4

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### COURT OF APPEALS NO. 31757-9-III

In Re The Estate of:

MARGARET WIMBERLEY,

Deceased.

# RESPONDENT CARROLL WESLEY WIMBERELY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Linda A. Sellers Sara L. Watkins Halverson Northwest Law Group P.C. Attorneys for Respondent Carroll Wesley Wimberley P.O. Box 22550 Yakima, WA 98907 509.248.6030

### **

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

## IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

A. <u>The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's</u> <u>Selection of Margaret's Date of Death as The Start Date of the</u> <u>Accounting Due to James's Complete Failure to Deliver Any</u> <u>Analysis, Case Law or Statute to Show that the Trial Court Did</u> <u>Not Have Authority to Pick the Start Date</u>.

James makes the specious argument that the Court of Appeals ruled that a trustee does not have to account for known misappropriations by a prior trustee. This is a gross mischaracterization of the Court's decision. Margaret served as her own trustee from the inception of the Trust until she resigned in 2008. James then served as Trustee until he was removed by the trial court in 2012. Evidently, during Margaret's life, James did not take possession of the Trust assets and change the Trust accounts into his name as the trustee, which allowed Margaret to continue to access the Wimberley Trust's bank accounts. As the Successor Trustee noted, there were multiple transfers into and out of the Trust accounts including after Margaret resigned as trustee. CP 68.

In 2009, Margaret followed the advice of an investment advisor and transferred Trust funds from a credit union account which earned almost no interest into an investment account. CP 212. James argues that this transfer was a "misappropriation" of Trust assets even though these assets were part of the Trust at Margaret's death because Margaret's pour over will stated that any assets she owned on her death were distributed to the Trust. CP 359. To the extent this fact is not clear, the confusion is caused by James's failure to fully account for the Trust assets during the years he served as trustee. The trial court ordered James to fully account. Mr. Trefts gave James ample opportunity to do so and James refused to provide accounting records to Mr. Trefts. "James is complaining about a problem he helped to create." *Slip Op.* at p. 27. As Wesley has pointed out before, the

preliminary accounting is as accurate as James has allowed it to be. *Slip. Op.* at 37.

The Successor Trustee has a duty to settle the estate in a prompt and efficient manner. The Trust directs distribution "as soon as practicable." CP 162. The trial court had authority to issue the order approving a start date for the accounting. RCW 11.96A.020, 11.96A.060. The \$280,000 that Margaret withdrew before she died was deposited into her other accounts (including the Franklin Templeton account) and these funds are a part of the Trust as of the date of Margaret's death and part of the accounting. The preliminary accounting shows that the Franklin Templeton account had a balance of \$466,379.43 on Margaret's date of death. CP 51.

The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with the case of *Tucker v. Brown*, 20 Wn 2d 740, 150 P.2d 604. The court in *Tucker* stated that as a general rule, a successor trustee must make an accounting of the trust. The court further stated that a personal representative of a deceased trustee must account for the period his decedent was in possession of the trust assets. *Id.* at 771.

In the case at bar, James is the prior trustee and he is not deceased. The *Tucker* case is not on point. James failed to provide accounting records to Mr. Trefts even though James could have done so. The funds James questions are accounted for by the Successor Trustee's accounting of Trust assets on the date of Margaret's death. In light of these facts, the trial court reasonably ruled that the accounting start date could be the date of Margaret's death. The accounting was both accurate and equitable.

B. <u>The Opinion of the Court of Appeals is in Harmony With Prior</u> <u>Opinions Holding that the Intent of the Decedent Expressed in</u> <u>the Plain Language of the Estate Planning Documents Signed</u> <u>By the Decedent Must Be Followed.</u>

James correctly states that the intent of a testator should be given effect "provided always that he has given them lawful expression." *In Re Elliot's Estate*, 72 Wn 2d 334, 351, 156 P.2d 427 (1945). There is no lawful expression of intent where Margaret's trust amendments attempted to revoke the distribution provisions of her husband's irrevocable trust shares. For that reason, her amendments are interpreted and applied in a lawful manner as a change to Margaret's Survivor's Trust share and not to C.W.'s irrevocable Decedent's Trust share.

In the Wimberley Trust, there are two people whose intent must be given expression: C. W. and his wife Margaret. As the trial court noted: "...the trust documents manifest Mr. and Mrs. Wimberley's intentions clearly ... and it is those intentions which govern this proceeding" CP 347. The Trust unambiguously states that during the joint lifetimes of C.W. and Margaret, the Trust was fully revocable and amendable. However, on the death of the first spouse, the Trust was to be divided into separate Trusts.

Margaret's undivided one-half share of the community property was to be distributed to the survivor's Trust and she could amend that trust. C.W.'s one-half share became irrevocable and Margaret had no authority to amend the Trust provisions that applied to C.W.'s share.

James argues that the Court of Appeals did not follow Margaret's intent to give all of the Fromherz real estate to her son James. This is untrue. The court did respect the lawful expression of Margaret's intent by distributing all of Margaret's one-half community ownership of the home to James. Because Margaret could not revoke the distribution provisions of C.W.'s irrevocable Decedent's Trusts B and C, the court respected C.W's intent by affirming the accounting that gave the value of C.W.'s one-half share in the home to both James and Wesley.

This decision is in harmony with prior case law which holds that the objective of interpreting a trust is to determine the intent of the settlor or grantor. *Old Nat'l Bank & Trust Co. of Spokane v. Hughes*, 16 Wash.2d 584, 587, 134 P.2d 63 (1943).

The court determines an individual's intent in a trust document by construing the document as a whole, giving effect to each part of the trust instrument. *In re Estate of Sherry*, 158 Wn.App. 69, 76, 240 P.3d 1182 (210); *Bartlett v. Betlach*, 136 Wn.App. 8, 19, 146 P.3d 1235 (2006).

The Wimberley Trust states that on the death of the surviving trustor, the balance of the Decedent's Trusts B and C are distributed in accordance with the provisions under the section titled "Allocation and Distribution of Trust Assets" as that section was "constituted and provided on the date of the death of the **first** of the Trustors to die." CP 150, 155 (emphasis added). The balance of the Survivor's Trust A is distributed in accordance with the provisions under the section titled "Allocation and Distribution of Trust Assets" as that section is "constituted and provided on the date of the provisions under the section titled "Allocation and Distribution of Trust Assets" as that section is "constituted and provided on the date of the last of the Trustors to die." CP 146 (emphasis added).

Margaret's 2007 trust amendment stated that she was electing to "...modify the distributive provisions of the trust beginning at page 50 of the trust agreement...." The amendment then went on to state that the Fromherz real estate would be distributed to James at the time of Margaret's death and that this "...distribution shall not be subject offset against his share the residual trust." CP 179.

In order to interpret the Wimberley Trust, the court must give effect to all of the Trust provisions. *Id.* The court did that by holding that Margaret's 2007 distribution amendment was effective as to her share of the Trust but that C.W.'s irrevocable Trusts would be distributed pursuant to the provisions of the Trust as it existed on the date of C.W.'s death. James asks the court to twist the plain language of the Wimberley Trust and the 2007 amendments to find that the trust amendment was not a trust amendment at all, but instead Margaret's decision to fund the Survivor's Trust A with the Fromherz real estate. Pet. for Rev. at 14. The problem with this argument is that the 2007 amendment is not ambiguous. It explicitly states that it is an amendment to the Wimberley Trust and further states that Margaret was electing not to fund the trusts. CP 179. "Where the meaning of an instrument evidencing a trust is unambiguous, the instrument is not one requiring judicial construction or interpretation . . ..." *Templeton v. Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash*. 106 Wn. 2d 304, 309, 722 P.2d 63 (1986) (quoting 90 *C.J.S. Trusts* § 161 at 18-19 (1955)). The trust amendment states it is an amendment and this language is unambiguous.

James claims the amendment should be interpreted as Margaret simply making a non-prorata distribution of Trust assets between her share and C.W.'s share. The problem with this argument is that no corresponding and equalizing distribution of Trust assets to C. W.'s Trust share is provided for in the amendment. It also is a complete mischaracterization of the amendment—it clearly was a Trust amendment not a division of the Trust into separate Trust shares. No evidence exists to show that Margaret distributed C.W.'s one-half share of the community estate into the irrevocable trust as required by the plain language of the Trusts.

Similarly, James's claim that Margaret "substantially" complied with the provisions of the Trust providing for distribution of assets to the separate Trust shares is not supported by the evidence. As the court of appeals noted, "...James presents no evidence Margaret divided the assets of the trust upon C.W. Wimberley's death, let alone that she assigned the entire value of the home to the Survivor's Trust. The evidence showed that Margaret violated the terms of the trust and considered all property to be under her full ownership." Slip op. at p. 34.

Williams v. Bank of California, N.A., 96 Wn. 2d 860, 639 P.2d. 1339 (1982), cited by James, does not support James's arguments. Williams held that if the procedure used in adopting an amendment to an employee profit sharing plan followed rather closely the method provided in the trust agreement then it substantially complied with the trust procedures for amendments. *Id.* 867. In the Wimberley Trust, there was nothing wrong with the *procedure or method* Margaret used in her amendments such as putting her amendments in a written signed document. The *content* of the amendment is the issue—the surviving spouse of the Wimberley Trust had no right to change the distribution provisions of the deceased spouse's trust.

The court determined the intent of both settlors from the language of the Wimberley Trust and respected the intent of both C.W. and Margaret. Because the decision follows existing case law on settlor's intent, the Petition for Review should be denied.

### C. <u>The Court of Appeals Did Not Rule that Community</u> <u>Property is Created Following the Death of a Spouse and</u> James Raises This Issue for The First Time On Appeal.

James asserts that the Court of Appeals decision converted the proceeds of asbestos litigation from separate property to community property. This is flatly wrong. The decision does not even apply to the asbestos litigation proceeds because those proceeds are distributed to the probate estate of C. W. and not to the Wimberley Trust. These proceeds are paid to the Estate of C. W. Wimberley and from there are directly distributed to C. W.'s heirs. CP 274.

At the time they signed the Wimberley Trust, C. W. and Margaret also signed a Letter of Intention which stated:

... If any questions should arise, it is the intent of each of the Trustors to gift, in consideration of their mutual love and affection, so much of any disputed property to the other as is necessary to create joint ownership in both Trustors."

CP 175. James argued below that 100% of the couple's community property became Margaret's separate estate upon the death of C. W. In ruling against this argument, the court noted that this argument was contrary to the couple's stated intent in the Letter of Intention. Slip Op. pp 30-31.

If prior to her death Margaret deposited any of the asbestos proceeds into the Trust, those funds would be part of the residue of the Survivor's Trust A to be distributed in equal shares to James and Wesley. The funds do not have to be characterized as "separate property" or "community property" because both Margaret's Trust amendment and the C. W.'s Trust provisions provide that the residue is distributed in equal shares to James and Wesley. C.P. 180.

Characterization of the asbestos proceeds was not an issue before the trial court nor an issue on appeal. Under RAP 2.5(a), an appellate court will not consider arguments or theories that are raised for the first time on appeal. See *Washburn v. Beatt Equipment Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 246, 289, 840 P.2d 860 (1992). Furthermore, resolution of this issue is not necessary to decide the issues in dispute. The Court of Appeals did not rule that assets Margaret acquired after death were converted into community property. Rather, the Court ruled that the Fromherz home was community property and this asset was owned by the Trust and by C. W. and Margaret prior to C W.'s death. This decision is in harmony with existing case law and statutes holding that spouses can gift property to each other.

D. <u>Interpretation of a Single Unique Trust Document and</u> <u>Application of the Plain and Unambiguous Language of the</u> <u>Trust Does Not Invoke the Public Interest.</u>

James argues that the court should grant review because many couples engage in estate planning that involves revocable living trusts. However, the mere fact that revocable trusts may be a common estate

planning technique does not invoke substantial public interest. The interpretation of each trust document is dependent upon the precise language of each particular trust. The interpretation of the Wimberley Trust is an issue that impacts only the parties to this unique trust document and does not invoke the public interest. Furthermore, the basic and general principle that a surviving spouse cannot revoke or amend her deceased spouse's irrevocable trust share was previously established by case law. This is not a case of first impression.

The court of appeals decision requires a trustee of a living trust to follow the explicit terms of the trust document. Our courts have consistently held that in construing a trust, the court looks to the language of the trust document itself and interpret the trust so that no sections of the trust are superfluous. See, e.g., *First Interstate Bank of Washington v. Lindberg*, 49 Wn.App. 788, 746 P.2d 333 (1987). In the *Lindberg* case, the court affirmed the trial court's decision that the surviving spouse could amend the distribution of her share of the assets in the trust when the trust became irrevocable due to her husband's death because the surviving spouse's amendment "did not attempt to revest the trust assets in herself or otherwise to destroy the trust by amending it...." *Id.* p. 794.

The language of the *Lindberg* trust was quite similar to the trust language at bar and allowed withdrawals of trust property, amendments and

revocation as "long as both of the Trustors are living...." *Id.* p.793. The Wimberley Trust provided that the trustors could amend the trust, withdraw trust property or revoke "... during the joint lives of the Trustors...except as to any share or Trust created herein which has become irrevocable ...." CP 122.

Lindberg held that the surviving spouse could amend the distribution provisions of her share because the trust in question stated that on the death of the surviving spouse, the "... remainder shall be distributed as he or she shall appoint by his or her Last Will or as he or she may herein designate...." However, the surviving spouse could not revoke the trust in its entirety or otherwise change the distribution of her husband's share of the Trust which could only be amended while both trustors were alive. *Id.* 

To the extent that trustees in the State of Washington are confused as to whether or not they need to follow the trust document, *Lindberg* already establishes this precedent, and the instant case is now a published opinion that provides further guidance.

James argues that trustors are often not informed of the duties and restrictions involved in the establishment of a trust. There is no evidence in the record that C. W. and Margaret did not understand their Trust when they signed the Trust in 1999. There is further no evidence in the record that trustors commonly comingle trust assets and ignore restrictions created by the trust.

The Wimberley case involves facts unique to the Wimberley family and the Wimberley Trust. This is demonstrated by the fact that the slip opinion devotes 25 pages to the factual and procedural history of the case.

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